
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 
--------------------------------------------------------- 
 ) 
MARY LOU POCHOWICZ, ) 
 ) 
 Plaintiff, ) 
  ) 
 v. )  Civil Action No. 
  ) 
DENSON SHOPS, INC.,   ) 
THOMAS K. DENSON, SUE A. DENSON, )   
PAMELA DENSON FRETT,  ) 
MARY SUE DENSON WYSOCKI and ) 
DENSON SHOPS, INC. 401(k) PROFIT ) 
SHARING PLAN,  ) 
  ) 
 Defendants. ) 
--------------------------------------------------------- 
 

COMPLAINT 
 
 Plaintiff, Mary Lou Pochowicz, by her attorneys, DeBofsky & Associates, P.C. and 

Jeffrey J. Pochowicz, Esq., hereby alleges: 

NATURE OF ACTION 

1. This action arises under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, 

as amended (“ERISA”), 29 U.S.C. § 1001, et seq., and is brought by Plaintiff under ERISA §§ 

502(a)(1), (2) and (3), 29 U.S.C. §§ 1132(a)(1), (2) and (3), to recover benefits due under the 

terms of an employee benefit plan, to enjoin acts and practices that violate the provisions of 

ERISA, to obtain appropriate equitable relief for breaches of fiduciary duty under ERISA § 409, 

29 U.S.C. § 1109, to redress Defendants’ retaliatory termination of her employment after she 

initiated a charge of ERISA violations with the U.S. Department of Labor, which is actionable 

under 29 U.S.C.  1140, and to obtain any and such further equitable relief as may be appropriate 
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to redress violations including removal of the named fiduciaries and the appointment of a new, 

independent plan trustee. 

2. This action further asserts substantial and related claims of common law fraud 

based upon the Court’s supplemental jurisdiction.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. Jurisdiction of this Court is based upon ERISA § 502(e)(2) and (f), 29 U.S.C. § 

1132(e)(2) and (f), as well as 28 U.S.C. § 1331.  The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over 

the fraud claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

4. Venue of this action is proper in the U.S. District Court, Northern District of 

Illinois, Eastern Division, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because a substantial part of the 

events or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred, or a substantial part of property that is the 

subject of the action is situated in this judicial district, and pursuant to ERISA § 502(e)(1) and 

(2), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(e)(1) and (2), because the Denson Shops, Inc. 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan is 

administered in this judicial district, and because Defendants all reside and may be found in this 

judicial district. 

DEFENDANTS AND PARTIES IN INTEREST 

5. Plaintiff, Mary Lou Pochowicz (“Ms. Pochowicz”), is currently sixty-six (66) 

years of age and is a resident of DuPage County, Illinois.  Ms. Pochowicz is a former employee 

of Defendant Denson Shops, Inc., with thirty-one (31) years of service.  Ms. Pochowicz was, at 

all times relevant hereto, a participant in the Denson Shops, Inc. 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan. 

6. Defendant Denson Shops, Inc. (“Denson Shops” or the “Company”), is and was a 

privately-held corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Illinois, with its 

principal place of business located at 509 S. Carlton Avenue, Wheaton, DuPage County, State of 
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Illinois.  At all relevant times, Denson Shops was the Employer and Plan Administrator of the 

Denson Shops, Inc. 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan; exercised authority or control over the 

management or disposition of the Plan assets; was a fiduciary to the Plan within the meaning of 

ERISA § 3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A); and was a party in interest to the Plan within the 

meaning of ERISA § 3(14)(A), (C) and (G), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(14)(A), (C) and (G). 

7. Defendant Denson Shops, Inc. 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan (“Plan”) is an employee 

benefit plan within the meaning of ERISA § 3(3), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(3), which is subject to the 

provisions of Title I of ERISA pursuant to ERISA § 4(a), 29 U.S.C. § 1003(a). 

8. Defendant Thomas K. Denson (“Thomas Denson” or “Mr. Denson”) is and was, 

at all relevant times, a named trustee of the Plan.  Mr. Denson is and was, at all relevant times, 

co-owner, principal shareholder, and President of Denson Shops with his spouse, Defendant Sue 

A. Denson, a named trustee of the Plan.  Mr. Denson exercised authority or control over the 

management or disposition of the Plan assets; was a fiduciary to the Plan within the meaning of 

ERISA § 3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A); and was a party in interest to the Plan within the 

meaning of ERISA § 3(14)(A), (E), (F) and (H), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(14)(A), (E), (F) and (H). 

9. Defendant Sue A. Denson (“Sue Denson” or “Ms. Denson”) is and was, at all 

relevant times, a named trustee of the Plan.  Ms. Denson is and was, at all relevant times, co-

owner, principal shareholder, and Secretary/Treasurer of Denson Shops with her spouse, Thomas 

Denson, a named trustee of the Plan.  Ms. Denson exercised authority or control over the 

management or disposition of the Plan assets; was a fiduciary to the Plan within the meaning of 

ERISA § 3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A); and was a party in interest to the Plan within the 

meaning of ERISA § 3(14)(A), (E), (F) and (H), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(14)(A), (E), (F) and (H). 
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10. Defendant Pamela Denson Frett (“Pamela Frett” or “Ms. Frett”) is and was, at all 

relevant times, a designated trustee of the Plan.  Ms. Frett is and was, at all relevant times, Office 

Manager of Denson Shops, a daughter of Mr. and Ms. Denson, and a sister of Defendant Mary 

Sue Denson Wysocki.  Ms. Frett exercised authority or control over the management or 

disposition of the Plan assets; was a fiduciary to the Plan within the meaning of ERISA § 

3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A); and was a party in interest to the Plan within the meaning of 

ERISA § 3(14)(A), (F) and (H), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(14)(A), (F) and (H). 

11. Defendant Mary Sue Denson Wysocki (“Mary Sue Wysocki” or “Ms. Wysocki”) 

is and was, at all relevant times, a designated trustee of the Plan.  Ms. Wysocki is and was, at all 

relevant times, Payroll Administrator of Denson Shops, a daughter of Mr. and Ms. Denson, and a 

sister of Ms. Frett.  Ms. Wysocki exercised authority or control over the management or 

disposition of the Plan assets; was a fiduciary to the Plan within the meaning of ERISA § 

3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A); and was a party in interest to the Plan within the meaning of 

ERISA § 3(14)(A), (F) and (H), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(14)(A), (F) and (H). 

12. The Plan is named as a defendant herein pursuant to its potential liability as an 

entity under ERISA.   

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS 

13. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 12 above as 

if fully set forth herein verbatim and anew. 

14. In September 1983, Plaintiff began her employment with Denson Shops and 

remained continuously employed with Denson Shops for 31 years.  Ms. Pochowicz served in a 

variety of capacities during her tenure with the Company.  Ms. Denson served as her supervisor 

during the entirety of her employment. 
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15. On or around January 1, 1995, Denson Shops established the Plan by executing an 

Adoption Agreement to provide retirement benefits to Denson Shops’ employees. 

16. On or around October 21, 2002, Denson Shops, through its Secretary/Treasurer 

Sue Denson, executed an Adoption Agreement to restate the Plan in connection with providing 

retirement benefits to Denson Shops’ employees. 

17. At all relevant times, the Plan’s governing documents, which were adopted by 

Denson Shops and signed by Ms. Denson, identified Denson Shops, Inc. as the Employer and 

Plan Administrator, a true and accurate copy of the Plan’s summary plan description is attached 

hereto as Exhibit “A” and by that reference incorporated herein. 

18. At all relevant times, the Plan’s governing documents provided, in pertinent part, 

that participants could elect to make tax deferred compensation contributions to the Plan, and 

that such deferred amounts would be contributed to the Plan and allocated to the individual 

participants’ investment accounts.  In addition, at all relevant times, the Plan’s governing 

documents provided that Denson Shops “will make a matching contribution equal to 80% of 

your 401(k) elective deferral contributions.”  However, the Plan further provided, “401(k) 

elective deferrals over 5% of your pay are not matched.”  The Plan’s governing documents also 

permitted participants to take loans from their 401(k) accounts, which, if taken, were required to 

be repaid. 

19. At all relevant times, Defendants Thomas Denson, Sue Denson, Pamela Frett and 

Mary Sue Wysocki had signatory authority to withdraw funds from the Denson Shops corporate 

bank account(s), and to both deposit and withdraw funds or make distributions from the Plan’s 

account(s). 
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20. At all relevant times, Defendants Thomas Denson, Sue Denson, Pamela Frett and 

Mary Sue Wysocki exercised control and authority over the management of the Plan, Denson 

Shops’ payroll, employees’ elective deferral contributions, and the disposition of Plan assets. 

21. At all relevant times, Defendants Thomas Denson, Sue Denson, Pamela Frett and 

Mary Sue Wysocki caused Denson Shops to withhold Plan participants’ pay in salary reduction 

contributions intended for the Plan, including elective deferral contributions for Plaintiff. 

22. At all relevant times, Plaintiff elected to have approximately 10% of her gross 

salary deferred in accordance with the Plan’s governing documents. 

23. At all relevant times, Denson Shops provided Plaintiff with paystubs that 

accompanied her biweekly paychecks, which indicated that her elective deferral contributions 

had been deducted from her gross pay for the corresponding pay periods for the purpose of 

depositing said monies into her investment account as part of the Plan. 

24. At all relevant times, Denson Shops provided Plaintiff with Forms W-2, and 

transmitted copies of such Forms W-2 to the U.S. Department of the Treasury – Internal 

Revenue Service, at the end of each calendar year that indicated the full amount of her elective 

deferral contributions had been deducted from her annual gross pay and ostensibly allocated to 

her individual account within the Plan.  

25. During the period from approximately January 1, 2004 to some time in March 

2015, Defendants Thomas Denson, Sue Denson, Pamela Frett and Mary Sue Wysocki, acting 

individually and on behalf of Denson Shops, failed to remit into the Plan’s account, which was 

being maintained and invested by the Principal Financial Group, at least $450,000 of the Plan 

participants’ elective deferral contributions that had been withheld from the Plan participants’ 
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wages.  During that same period, Defendants failed to remit employer-matching contributions to 

the Plan as required by the Plan’s governing documents.  

26. During the period from approximately January 1, 2004 to some time in March 

2015, Defendants Thomas Denson, Sue Denson, Pamela Frett and Mary Sue Wysocki caused 

Denson Shops to withhold approximately $25,000 from Plaintiff’s gross pay in salary reduction 

contributions intended for the Plan but failed to remit said amount into the Plan’s account so that 

it could be invested in accordance with Plaintiff’s instructions and designations for investment of 

her 401(k) monies.  Defendants also failed to remit on Plaintiff’s behalf the employer-matched 

contributions due in the amount of approximately $10,000 pursuant to the Plan’s governing 

documents.  

27. During the period from approximately January 1, 2004 to some time in March 

2015, Defendants Thomas Denson, Sue Denson, Pamela Frett and Mary Sue Wysocki caused 

Denson Shops to retain salary reduction contributions for Plaintiff and other Plan participants 

and commingled the withheld contributions with the Denson Shops’ corporate accounts and used 

such amounts for non-Plan purposes. 

28. On or around March 12, 2015, Plaintiff learned of the foregoing after she made 

inquiry to Principal Financial concerning her non-receipt for some time of quarterly investment 

account statements.  The customer service representative Plaintiff spoke with advised her that 

such statements were being mailed directly by Principal to Denson Shops (Attention Sue 

Denson), and had been mailed to Denson Shops (Attention Sue Denson) for several years.  The 

customer service representative further informed Plaintiff that no contributions had been made 

into Ms. Pochowicz’ Plan investment account for at least two years.   
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29. On or around March 12, 2015, Plaintiff questioned Ms. Frett regarding the 

absence of quarterly investment account statements related to her individual 401(k) benefit plan 

account investments and the lack of remittances into her Plan account.  Ms. Frett indicated that 

she was too busy to discuss the issue at that time but that she would get information to Ms. 

Pochowicz the next day.  Plaintiff still has not heard from Ms. Frett regarding the missing 

quarterly investment account statements. 

30. On or around March 13, 2015, Plaintiff questioned Ms. Wysocki regarding the 

quarterly investment account statements that she had not been receiving, and Ms. Wysocki 

informed Ms. Pochowicz that she needed to speak with Ms. Frett. 

31. On or around March 14, 2015, Plaintiff questioned Ms. Denson regarding the 

quarterly investment account statements that she had not been receiving, and Ms. Denson also 

informed Ms. Pochowicz that she needed to speak with Ms. Frett.  At the same time, Plaintiff 

further asked Ms. Denson about missing elective deferral contributions, and Ms. Denson 

indicated, albeit vaguely, that Ms. Frett was a little behind. 

32. On or around March 18, 2015, Plaintiff filed a claim and request for information 

with Denson Shops, Plan Administrator (the “March 2015 Claim”), in accordance with the 

Plan’s governing documents, in relation to (i) missing elective deferral contributions; (ii) missing 

matching contributions; (iii) lost earnings; (iv) Plan loan repayment; and (v) any discretionary 

contributions and/or qualified nonelective contributions, if any; and (vi) quarterly investment 

reports.  In Plaintiff’s claim, she further requested Plan documents, including, for example, (i) 

Annual Reports (Form 5500 Series); (ii) Summary Plan Description, as currently in effect; (iii) 

the Plan’s Annual Financial Report; and (iv) information regarding any discretionary 

contributions and/or qualified nonelective contributions made under the Plan from 2002 to the 
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present (collectively, the “Plan Documents”).  Mr. and Ms. Denson, in their capacity as Plan 

trustees, received a copy of the March 2015 Claim on or about March 19, 2015. 

33. On or around March 18, 2015, Plaintiff also filed a claim with the U.S. 

Department of Labor – Employee Benefits Security Administration, Chicago Regional Office 

(“U.S. DOL”), by sending the agency a copy of the March 2015 Claim. 

34. On or around May 12, 2015, the U.S. DOL informed Plaintiff that it had opened 

an investigation of the matter (Case No. 50-033339).   

35. On or around April 21, 2015, after not having received a response from Denson 

Shops, Plan Administrator, to the March 2015 Claim and request for information, Plaintiff sent a 

follow-up letter to Denson Shops regarding the information she had initially requested in March 

2015  (the “April 2015 Letter”).  Mr. and Ms. Denson, in their capacity as Plan trustees, received 

a copy of the April 2015 Letter on or about April 22, 2015. 

36. On or around April 25, 2015, Ms. Denson approached Plaintiff and acknowledged 

receipt of the April 2015 Letter.  In an increasingly hostile manner, and in plain view of store 

customers and fellow employees, Ms. Denson informed Plaintiff that she should not have signed 

the March 2015 Claim and April 2015 Letter herself and that her son (or anyone else with whom 

Plaintiff was working) should “back off.”  Ms. Denson further indicated that Denson Shops 

would not pay any penalties that Plaintiff had referenced in the April 2015 Letter (as provided 

for pursuant to ERISA § 502(c), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(c), of up to $110 per day, per violation) that 

would accrue in the event the requested information was not timely provided. 

37. On or around June 5, 2015, when Plaintiff still had not received a response from 

Denson Shops, Plan Administrator, to the March 2015 Claim and request for information, or the 

April 2015 Letter, Plaintiff sent a further follow-up request for information to Denson Shops 
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regarding her request for Plan Documents (the “June 2015 Letter”).  Mr. and Ms. Denson, in 

their capacity as Plan trustees, received a copy of the June 2015 Letter. 

38. On or around June 19, 2015, Denson Shops abruptly terminated Plaintiff’s 

employment. 

39. On or around June 25, 2015, Denson Shops sent Plaintiff the only correspondence 

responsive to the March 2015 Claim indicating that it had engaged Ira. A. Post as “legal 

counsel.”1 

40. On or around July 1, 2015, after Plaintiff still had not received a response from 

Denson Shops, Plan Administrator, to the March 2015 Claim, the April 2015 Letter, or the June 

2015 Letter, Plaintiff notified the Plan Administrator that she viewed her claim as denied and 

was seeking to appeal the determination pursuant to ERISA § 503, 29 U.S.C. § 1133, and 29 

C.F.R. § 2560.503-1.  In her appeal, Plaintiff included a reminder of her request for Plan 

Documents that was still outstanding.  As of the date hereof, Denson Shops has not answered 

either the March 2015 Claim or the subsequent appeal. 

41. On or around July 8, 2015, the Plan Administrator, by and through Defendant 

Pamela Frett, filed Form 5500 for fiscal plan years 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012 

and 2013 with the U.S. DOL and the U.S. Department of the Treasury – Internal Revenue 

Service.  (Group Exhibit “B”)  

                                                            
1 On information and belief, Mr. Post works for a deferred compensation consulting firm – HPL&S Inc. (“HPL&S”).  
However, although Mr. Post was identified by Denson Stores as its legal counsel, Mr. Post is not a registered 
attorney licensed to practice law in the State of Illinois, according to the website maintained by the Attorney 
Registration and Disciplinary Commission of the Supreme Court of Illinois.  Upon further inquiry, Plaintiff was 
informed by the ARDC that Mr. Post was not permitted to practice law in the State of Illinois.     
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42. On or around July 11, 2015, Plaintiff received a portion of the Plan Documents 

through Denson Shops’ agent, HPL&S.  On or around July 20, 2015, Plaintiff received an 

additional Plan Document. 

43. On or around January 14, 2016, Plaintiff requested a copy of the Plan’s Annual 

Report filed on Form 5500 for fiscal plan year 2014. 

44. On or around January 25, 2016, the Plan Administrator, by and through 

Defendant Pamela Frett, filed Form 5500 for fiscal plan year 2014 with the U.S. DOL and the 

U.S. Department of the Treasury – Internal Revenue Service, a copy of which Plaintiff received 

from HPL&S.  (Exhibit “C”) 

45. During the period from March 2015 to the present, Defendants Thomas Denson, 

Sue Denson, Pamela Frett and Mary Sue Wysocki caused Denson Shops to remit some required 

contributions to the Plan, which would have included contributions owed to Plaintiff’s Plan 

balance. 

46. However, Plaintiff has been informed and believes that to date only 

approximately $7,500 in Plaintiff’s unremitted salary elective deferral contributions and 

employer-matching contributions owed since 2004 have not been remitted to the Plan; and that 

additional contribution based on withholdings, along with employer-matched contributions 

remain due and owing, although the exact amount cannot yet be determined without a full 

reconciliation of Plaintiff’s W-2 forms and access to Principal’s records showing contributions to 

Plaintiff’s account. 

Count I 
(ERISA – Claim for Benefits) 

 
47. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 46 above as 

if fully set forth herein verbatim and anew. 
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48. Between 2004 and the present, Defendants were obligated to pay the amounts 

withheld from Plaintiff’s paycheck as contributions into the Denson Shops Inc. 401(k) Profit 

Sharing Plan and failed to do so; and Defendants also failed to remit employer-matching 

contributions as required by the terms of the Plan. 

49. As a result thereof, Plaintiff was denied benefits to which she was entitled under 

the terms of the Plan and is entitled to be made whole for her losses in accordance with the terms 

of the Plan. 

Count II 
(ERISA – Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 

 
50. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 49 above as 

if fully set forth herein verbatim and anew. 

51. As a consequence of the actions taken by the Defendants and each of them, 

Plaintiff was not only denied the monies that were promised to her pursuant to the Plan and 

which were represented to have been deducted from her paycheck for the purpose of contributing 

those funds to the Plan, but she was also denied significant returns on her investments that the 

monies would have earned had they been invested with Principal pursuant to the Plaintiff’s 

instructions and directions.   

52. The failure to make the deposits owed were the result of one or more of the 

following breaches of fiduciary duty by Defendants Thomas Denson, Sue Denson, Pamela Frett 

and Mary Sue Wysocki, individually, jointly and/or severally: 

a. failed to ensure that the assets of the Plan were held in trust and did not 

inure to the benefit of Denson Shops in violation of ERISA §§ 403(a) and (c)(1), 29 U.S.C. §§ 

1103(a) and (c)(1); 
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b. failed to act solely in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries of 

the Plan and for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits to participants and their beneficiaries 

and defraying reasonable expenses of Plan administration in violation of ERISA § 404(a)(1)(A), 

29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(A); 

c. failed to discharge their duties with respect to the Plan in accordance with 

the documents and instruments governing the Plan, in violation of ERISA § 404(a)(1)(D), 29 

U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(D); 

d. caused the Plan to engage in transactions which they knew or should have 

known constituted a direct or indirect transfer to, or use by or for the benefit of, a party in 

interest, of assets of the Plan, in violation of ERISA § 406(a)(1)(D), 29 U.S.C. § 1106(a)(1)(D); 

e. dealt with assets that were designated as Plan assets in their own interest 

in violation of ERISA § 406(b)(1), 29 U.S.C. § 1106(b)(1); and 

f. acted on behalf of a party whose interests are adverse to the interests of the 

Plan or the interests of its participants and beneficiaries in violation of ERISA § 406(b)(2), 29 

U.S.C. § 1106(b)(2). 

53. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ fiduciary breaches, the Plan and 

Plaintiff suffered injury and losses for which they are personally liable and are subject to 

appropriate equitable relief, pursuant to ERISA § 502(a)(3), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3), inclusive of 

a surcharge remedy and removal of the named fiduciaries and replacement of those fiduciaries 

with an independent trustee. 

Count III 
(ERISA Prohibited Transaction in Relation to Loan Repayment) 

 
54. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 53 above as 

if fully set forth herein verbatim and anew. 
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55. On or around July 6, 2012, Plaintiff authorized a loan to be taken on her behalf 

from the Plan in the amount of $3,500.00 (the “Plan Loan”) pursuant to the Plan’s general terms 

and conditions associated with such participant loans. 

56. Beginning within six months of authorizing the Plan Loan, Plaintiff inquired 

multiple times of Ms. Frett regarding how Plaintiff could repay the Plan Loan; Ms. Frett 

responded each time that Plaintiff should not worry about the Plan Loan and that Ms. Frett, 

acting on behalf of Denson Shops, was taking care of it. 

57. At all relevant times after Ms. Frett, acting on behalf of Denson Shops, told 

Plaintiff not to worry about the Plan Loan, Plaintiff believed that Denson Shops and its agents, 

including Ms. Frett, were making payments either out of Plaintiff’s current earnings or in 

consideration of a significant reduction in Plaintiff’s salary toward repayment of the Plan Loan 

so that Plaintiff’s Plan account would be restored to its full value and made whole.   

58. On or around March 12, 2015, Plaintiff learned that there remained an outstanding 

balance on the Plan Loan in the amount of approximately $3,436.10. 

59. Plaintiff has been informed and believes that at some time between March 2015 

and the present, Defendants remitted payments to reduce Plaintiff’s outstanding loan balance, but 

Plaintiff lacks any knowledge, information or belief to ascertain the amount of those payments or 

the current loan balance.   

Count IV 
(ERISA – Failure to Deliver Quarterly Statements – 

Violation of 29 U.S.C. § 1025(a) and 29 U.S.C. § 1132(c)) 
 

60. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 59 above as 

if fully set forth herein verbatim and anew. 
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61. From at least 2004 to July 2015, Plaintiff did not receive investment account 

statements that are required for participants of qualified benefit plans, including the Plan, 

pursuant to ERISA § 105(a)(1)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1025(a)(1)(A). 

62. From at least 2004 to July 2015, Principal directly mailed investment account 

statements regarding Plaintiff’s individual 401(k) benefit plan account investments to Denson 

Shops (Attention Sue Denson) (the “Plan Statements”) which then failed to distribute such 

statements to Plaintiff. 

63. From at least 2004 to July 2015, Defendants Thomas Denson, Sue Denson, 

Pamela Frett and Mary Sue Wysocki intentionally withheld Plan Statements from Plaintiff 

thereby preventing Plaintiff from discovering that elective deferral contributions and employer-

matching contributions had not been remitted to the Plan. 

64. As a direct and proximate result thereof, Plaintiff is owed as much as $110 per 

day as a penalty for Defendants’ non-compliance with ERISA § 105(a)(1)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 

1025(a)(1)(A), along with attorneys’ fees, pursuant to ERISA § 502(c), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(c). 

Count V 
(ERISA – Failure to Deliver Plan Documents Requested by Plaintiff – 

Violation of 29 U.S.C. § 1132(c)) 
 

65. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 64 above as 

if fully set forth herein verbatim and anew. 

66. Plaintiff had a legal right to expect that copies of the Plan Documents that she 

requested would be mailed to her no later than 30 days after her written request to the Plan 

Administrator, in accordance with ERISA, § 502(c)(1)(B), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(c)(1)(B). 

67. Plaintiff first made a written request to Denson Shops, the Plan Administrator, for 

Plan Documents on March 18, 2015. 
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68. At the time she made her request for Plan Documents, Plaintiff was sixty-five (65) 

years old; aware that a substantial portion of her retirement savings was missing as a result of 

Defendants’ actions; and was working in an increasingly hostile work environment.   

69. Plaintiff sent reminders of her request for Plan Documents on April 21, 2015, 

June 5, 2015 and July 1, 2015. 

70. Denson Shops, the Plan Administrator, did not honor Plaintiff’s request for Plan 

Documents until July 11, 2015, eighty-one (81) days after the deadline for response. 

71. As a direct and proximate result thereof, Plaintiff is owed as much as $110 per 

day for each of those 81 days ($8,910) as a penalty for Defendants’ non-compliance with 

Plaintiff’s request, along with attorneys’ fees, pursuant to ERISA § 502(c), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(c).   

Count VI 
(ERISA – Retaliation for Exercise of Protected Rights – Violation of 29 U.S.C. § 1140) 

 
72. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 71 above as 

if fully set forth herein verbatim and anew. 

73. Plaintiff’s abrupt employment termination was in retaliation for Plaintiff’s 

complaints of irregularities with the Plan to the Plan fiduciaries, and for reporting/disclosing to 

the U.S. DOL and other employees that Defendants may have violated ERISA by failing to 

deposit the Plaintiff’s and other employees’ deferred compensation contributions into the 

accounts designated by the Plan and retaining those contributions for Defendants’ own benefit. 

74. Defendants also discharged Plaintiff from her employment in retaliation for 

demanding that Defendants replace Plaintiff’s deferred compensation contributions into the 

accounts designated by the Plan in addition to the interest and earnings that would have accrued 

had the contributions been deposited into the accounts at the appropriate time. 
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75. Defendants discharged Plaintiff from her employment because Plaintiff, in good 

faith, reported a violation or suspected violation of federal and state laws including, but not 

limited to, violations of ERISA. 

76. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ above-mentioned acts, Plaintiff is 

entitled to be made whole for her loss of wages, bonuses, income, lost benefits, and other 

damages she has suffered. 

Count VII 
(Illinois Common Law – Retaliatory Discharge) 

 
77. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 76 above as 

if fully set forth herein verbatim and anew and alleges the following in addition to and/or in the 

alternative to Count VI in the event Plaintiff cannot recover damages pursuant to ERISA § 510, 

29 U.S.C. § 1140. 

78. The wrongful termination of Plaintiff was in violation of the common law and 

public policy of the State of Illinois since Plaintiff was fired after reporting the Defendants to the 

U.S. Department of Labor for withholding her wages for the purpose of depositing the withheld 

amounts into the Plan and not remitting said monies into a qualified employee retirement account 

as required by the adoption of the Plan. 

79. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ above-mentioned acts, Plaintiff 

has suffered lost wages, bonuses, income, lost benefits, emotional distress, humiliation, mental 

pain and anguish and other damages. 

80. Defendants’ above-mentioned acts were willful, wanton and malicious and justify 

an award of punitive damages. 
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Count VIII 
(Illinois Common Law – Conspiracy to Defraud) 

 
81. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 80 above as 

if fully set forth herein verbatim and anew. 

82. Each of Defendants Thomas Denson, Sue Denson, Pamela Frett and Mary Sue 

Wysocki agreed with one another and acted together to unlawfully withhold wages from Plaintiff 

and not remit said monies into the Plan as required by the Plan’s governing documents; and to 

divert those payments for the personal or business use of the Defendants.   

83. Each of Defendants Thomas Denson, Sue Denson, Pamela Frett and Mary Sue 

Wysocki participated in an ongoing scheme between 2004 and 2015 to engage in violations of 

ERISA by, for example, the failure to remit Plaintiff’s elective deferral contributions and 

employer-matching contributions to the Plan and conversion of Plaintiff’s wages for the personal 

or business use of the Defendants.  

84. Each of Defendants Thomas Denson, Sue Denson, Pamela Frett and Mary Sue 

Wysocki agreed with one another and acted together to misrepresent and conceal the above-

mentioned fraudulent acts, including issuing to Plaintiff inaccurate biweekly paystubs; 

transmitting false Form W-2s; and withholding Plan Statements, all of which contained material 

facts. 

85. Together, all of the Defendants were engaged in a common scheme or plan to 

engage in the fraudulent actions alleged herein; Plaintiff justifiably relied on the truth of the 

fraudulent acts and sustained damages. 

86. Defendants’ conduct, in conspiring to defraud Plaintiff, was intentional, willful 

and wanton, and of such a nature that the Defendants should be punished to deter such actions in 

the future. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, Plaintiff prays for relief as follows: 

A. The Court find Defendants, and each of them, personally and collectively liable to 

Plaintiff and award Plaintiff all retirement benefits she was owed and which were 

not remitted by Defendants; along with the required employer-matching 

contributions. 

B. The Court find Defendants, and each of them, personally and collectively liable to 

Plaintiff and award Plaintiff as a surcharge remedy any additional monies that she 

would have earned but for Defendants’ breach of fiduciary duties as a return on 

her investments. 

C. The Court order the individual Defendants to remit to the Plan any and all monies 

owed to the Plan for employee withholding and employer-matched contributions 

to remedy any prohibited transactions under ERISA § 406, 29 U.S.C. § 1106, and 

return improperly expended assets to the Plan. 

D. The Court remove the current fiduciaries of the plan and replace the fiduciaries 

with an independent trustee pursuant to ERISA § 409, 29 U.S.C. § 1109.   

E. The Court award Plaintiff the maximum penalty under ERISA § 502(c), 29 U.S.C. 

§ 1132(c) for Defendants’ failure to deliver required quarterly statements. 

F. The Court award Plaintiff the maximum penalty under ERISA § 502(c), 29 U.S.C. 

§ 1132(c) for Defendants’ failure to deliver Plan Documents. 

G. The Court decree such other injunctive relief, including but not limited to, voiding 

prohibited transactions and/or entering such other orders as are necessary to 
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dissipate or relieve the effects of the aforesaid violations and wrongs, and illegal 

acts and conduct of Defendants. 

H. The Court award Plaintiff compensatory damages suffered as a result of the 

wrongs complained of herein including any costs incurred by Plaintiff. 

I. The Court award Plaintiff prejudgment interest. 

J. The Court award to Plaintiff the costs of suit, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, 

as provided by law, including ERISA § 502(g), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(g). 

K. The Court award to Plaintiff and the Plan as a whole such other and further relief 

as the Court may deem just and equitable. 

Dated: Chicago, Illinois 
March 2, 2016 

 
 Respectfully submitted, 
 
 DeBofsky & Associates, P.C. 
 
 
 /s/ Mark D. DeBofsky 
 __________________________________ 
 Mark D. DeBofsky, Esq. 
 Attorney for Plaintiff 
 
 200 W. Madison Street, Suite 2670 
 Chicago, Illinois  60606 
 Telephone: 312-561-4040 
 E-Mail: mdebofsky@debofsky.com 
 
 
 /s/ Jeffrey J. Pochowicz 
 __________________________________ 
 Jeffrey J. Pochowicz, Esq. (#6278257) 
 Attorney for Plaintiff 
 832 Sunset Road 
 Wheaton, IL 60189 
 Telephone: 630-688-2121 
 Email: jeffrey. pochowicz@gmail.com 
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